DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES

Surveillance and Management Plan for Chronic Wasting Disease in Free-ranging Cervids in Minnesota

> July 2019 (Updated July 2024)

Table of Contents

Introduction	1
History of CWD in Minnesota	5
Risk-based Surveillance for CWD in Wild Cervids of Minnesota	10
Discovery of CWD in a Minnesota Captive Cervid Facility	11
Recent Detection or Significant Spread of CWD in Wild Cervids in a Bordering State	13
Detection of CWD through Testing of Clinical-suspects or Other Special Cervid Cases	14
CWD Detection in Wild Cervids: Initial Response, Management of Persistent Infection, and	ł
Management of Endemic Disease in Minnesota	15
Initial Response to CWD Detection in Wild Cervids	16
Transition to Management of a Persistent CWD Infection	
Management of Persistent CWD Infection in Wild Cervids	20
Transition to Management of an Endemic CWD Infection	22
Management of Endemic CWD Infection in Wild Cervids	23
Supporting Strategies and Evidence	24
Adaptive Management	26
What the Discovery of CWD Means for Minnesota's Hunters	27
Applied Research	28
CWD Communications	29
Literature Cited	31
Appendix A. Glossary of Terms	
Appendix B. Conceptual representation of CWD Management Zone	40
Appendix C. Stages of CWD Response and Key Management Actions	41

Introduction

Chronic wasting disease (CWD) belongs to a family of infectious diseases, called transmissible spongiform encephalopathies (TSE), which alter the morphology of the central nervous system, resulting in a "sponge-like" appearance of this tissue. Chronic wasting disease affects members of the Cervidae family including elk (*Cervus canadensis*), mule deer (*Odocoileus hemionus*), white-tailed deer (*O. virginianus*), moose (*Alces alces*), and caribou/reindeer (*Rangifer tarandus*). The causative agent of CWD is an infectious protein, called a prion, which accumulates in nervous and lymphatic tissues and has been detected in a variety of tissues and fluids throughout infected animals. Infectious prions have been found in cervid urine, saliva, blood, feces, muscle, antler velvet, and semen (Mathiason et al. 2006, Haley et al. 2011, Pulford et al. 2012, Kramm et al. 2019). Incubation time of the disease, from infection to clinical signs, can range from 1.5 to nearly 3 years (Williams et al. 2002). Clinical signs are non-specific and may include a loss of body condition and weight, excessive salivation, loss of fear of humans, loss of body control, tremors or staggering, drooping head or ears, and apparent confusion (Gilch 2016). There is no known treatment or vaccine for the disease and it is always fatal.

Chronic wasting disease was first discovered in captive mule deer in 1967 in Colorado and then recognized in captive white-tailed deer and elk in 1978. Within wild populations, CWD was historically confined to free-ranging deer and elk in the endemic area of northeastern Colorado and southeastern Wyoming. As of July 2024, the disease has been detected in wild and captive cervids in 34 states across the US, five Canadian provinces, the Republic of South Korea, Finland, Sweden, and Norway.

The Centers for Disease Control (CDC) and other public health agencies have concluded there is no known link between CWD and any neurological disease in humans (MaWhinney et al. 2006), and transmission to humans is extremely unlikely (Kurt et al. 2015, Waddell et al. 2018, Groveman et al. 2024). However, recent research on transmission potential of CWD prions to humanized mice has suggested the species barrier may be less robust than previously thought and calls to question the zoonotic potential of this disease (Hannaoui et al. 2022). Further, preliminary results from an ongoing and yet unpublished study by the Canadian Food Inspection Agency has demonstrated the disease can be transmitted to macaques (*Macaca fascicularis*) through consumption of muscle from deer naturally infected with CWD. These unpublished findings have sparked renewed concerns about potential human health risks of eating CWD-contaminated venison (Czub 2017). In separate work, also focused on susceptibility of macaques to CWD, Race et al. (2018) found no evidence of successful transmission. The reasons for this scientific ambiguity are unclear, but as a precaution both the CDC and the World Health Organization recommend that humans do not consume any part of a known CWD positive animal.

Experimental and circumstantial evidence suggest that transmission of the disease is primarily through direct contact with infected animals, carcasses, saliva, or excrement (Miller and Williams 2003, Safar et al. 2008, and Haley et al. 2011). Recent research has also suggested vertical or maternal transmission as a possible mechanism of infection. (Bravo-Risi et al. 2021; Nalls et al. 2013, 2021). Theoretically, prions can be shed from infected animals soon after initial infection; in one experimental study prion shedding was detected in deer saliva three months post-inoculation (Henderson et al. 2015), and another study found that deer shed prions in their feces up to a year before showing signs of illness (Tamgüney et al. 2009).

Persistence of prions in the environment and resulting indirect transmission has been shown to occur (Miller et al. 2004, Johnson et al. 2007, and Maluquer de Motes et al. 2008). Recent research has shown prion seeding activity is retained for at least 15 years at a contaminated site, following attempted remediation (S. Lichtenberg, *pers comm*). Prions readily bind with soil particles (Saunders et al. 2012) and other abiotic substances (Plummer et al. 2018, Pritzkow et al. 2018), which can magnify CWD infectivity (Johnson et al. 2007). Certain soil elements, such as clay, appear to enhance the persistence and infectivity of CWD prions (Dorak et al. 2017). Furthermore, plants have been shown to uptake prions from the soil making them available for consumption by herbivorous animals (Pritzkow et al. 2015, Carlson et al. 2023). Conversely, a recent study found that humic acids in soil organic matter may decrease prion infectivity (Kuznetsova et al. 2018). These findings underscore the complex dynamics that prions have with the environment.

All cervids infected with CWD, regardless of their genetic makeup, will die from CWDassociated mortality because no genotype confers complete immunity. However, research has demonstrated that certain genotypes can extend the CWD incubation period and animal survival time, although these infected individuals may shed infectious prions for a longer amount of time and contribute to environmental contamination (Johnson et al. 2006, 2011; Robinson et al. 2012, Haley et al. 2021, Moazami-Goudarzi et al. 2021). Based on epidemiological modeling, deer with a more CWD-resistant genotype may have a selective advantage in the long term, although it is not clear if there are maladaptive traits associated with their presence (Robinson et al. 2012). More recently, there is evidence that there has been genetic selection among elk due to CWD, but it is unclear whether it is sufficient to mitigate negative population level impacts (Monello et al. 2017). There is much uncertainty regarding how CWD may drive the evolutionary dynamics of cervid populations, but it is clear that the recent discovery and potential for novel CWD strains adds additional complexity (Duque-Velásquez et al. 2015, Otero et al. 2023).

White-tailed deer have significant cultural, social, and economic value in Minnesota. These values extend particularly to tribal communities on both reservation lands and ceded territories where cervids provide sustenance for those communities. On these lands especially, close coordination with tribal partners on all aspects of CWD response activities is critically important. As written in the Minnesota Department of Natural Resources' (MNDNR). Whitetailed Deer Management Plan, agency staff coordinate and work with tribes on deer management in accordance with reserved treaty rights, associated court decisions, federal laws, intergovernmental agreements and shared interest in natural resource conservation. In 2019, Governor Tim Walz signed Executive Order 19-24, which was later rescinded and signed into law in the Minnesota 2021 1st Special Session, to facilitate a collaborative relationship and promote engagement with tribal nations through coordination, cooperation, and consultation. The MNDNR acknowledges that this disease may negatively affect treaty resources and influence the ability of tribal members to exercise their treaty rights; close coordination is imperative as specific response plans are developed on reservation lands and ceded territories.

Throughout Minnesota, economic activities related to hunting wild white-tailed deer generate over 500 million dollars annually and revenues from deer hunting licenses support wildlife management activities of the MNDNR. Potential reductions in the participation of white-tailed deer hunting stemming from CWD are a concern for managers. The discovery of CWD in wild cervid populations in neighboring Wisconsin in 2002 resulted in an initial decline in hunting permit license sales of 11% (Vaske et al. 2004, Vaske and Lyon 2011) with associated impacts on deer hunting related economic activity (Bishop 2003), although most hunters returned quickly. Erickson et al. (2019) further demonstrated that the negative effects of CWD on demand for deer hunting licenses in WI declined over the period 2002 to 2015 as external pressures on demand compensated (e.g., lower participation among an aging population).

The long-term effects of CWD on deer hunting participation are difficult to estimate given the shifting demographics of society, and trends in Americans' interest in hunting in general. Minnesota has witnessed a 1.5% average annual decline in deer hunting license sales from 2012 to present (MNDNR 2024). Some of this decline is likely attributable to CWD and CWD management, but the full extent is unknown. The structure of Minnesota's deer licenses and deer management confound estimates of the effects of CWD on demand since not all deer licenses are explicitly linked to deer permit areas, and management area boundaries have changed with the progression of the disease. Following the discovery of CWD in southeast Minnesota in 2016, there was a 10% decline in the number of hunters reporting the CWD management area as their intended hunt location before the season. Regardless, the presence of CWD presents an additional factor in Minnesotans' decision where to hunt deer.

Of particular concern to deer hunting participation is the species barrier, as several surveys of deer hunters, including in Minnesota, have found that a sizable proportion of hunters state they would cease hunting deer if the disease were transmissible to humans. Any significant reduction in deer hunting licenses sales would present a challenge to the MNDNR's ability to execute management activities for all species given the proportion of revenues that come from deer hunting licenses, and multiplicative impacts on federal funds through the Federal Aid in Wildlife Restoration program. Needham et al. (2004) postulated that upwards of two-thirds of hunters would quit hunting if CWD was transmissible to humans. By extension, a reduction in deer hunters diminishes the capacity of state wildlife agencies to effectively manage deer populations. The MNDNR is not unique in this regard, as license dollars fund the operations of most state wildlife agencies, who are reliant on these fees and Federal reimbursements to deliver management and conservation activities for many species of wildlife and their habitats (Organ et al. 2010). Thompson and Mason (2022) recently reported that nationally, CWD surveillance and management is expensive and may be unsustainable if for no other reason than that the cost per sample for CWD testing is typically more than twice the revenue generated through the sale of a

resident deer hunting license. Since 2002, Minnesota has spent \$21.3million on its CWD response program¹, of which 98% were state funds (72% from license fees, 26% state funding, and 2% federal dollars). Until such time as uncertainty is reduced (e.g., human health implications, long-term population concerns), the MNDNR considers CWD response and management a high priority and all necessary resources should be directed to avoid the long-term consequences of an endemic infection.

History of CWD in Minnesota in Farmed Cervids

From 2005 to 2021, the Minnesota Board of Animal Health (BAH) had sole authority for oversight of farmed cervids in Minnesota. In 2017, BAH was audited by the Office of the Legislative Auditor (OLA), and the OLA made several recommendations that the BAH should take to improve oversight. In February 2021, the Minnesota State Legislature amended Chapter 35.155: Chap. 6 Art. 2 Sec. 17 Subd. 14, to grant concurrent authority to MNDNR and BAH for regulatory oversight of farmed white-tailed deer. In 2023, the Legislature again amended Minn. Statute 35.155 to grant sole authority for oversight of farmed white-tailed deer to the MNDNR while BAH retained oversight for all other farmed cervid species.

To date, CWD has been diagnosed in 13 captive cervid herds within the state of Minnesota, including 3 elk herds, 9 white-tailed deer herds, and 1 European red deer (*Cervus elaphus*) herd. Epidemiologic investigations were conducted by USDA and BAH staff following each occurrence of CWD, and results indicate 5 of these herds (40%) were directly linked to another CWD-infected farm through direct animal movements discovered through tracing. Investigations of the remaining 7 herds (60%) failed to determine the point source of the disease with certainty, but risk factors included on-site taxidermy, import of live cervids or semen from high-risk facilities, and other potential sources.

The following is a chronological account of detections of CWD in farm cervid herds:

• 2002: An elk herd in Aitkin County was discovered with CWD as well as an elk herd in Stearns County that received animals from the former. Those herds were both depopulated with no additional CWD positive animals found.

¹ Fiscal year 2024 (\$3.5 million) in an estimate.

- 2006: A captive white-tailed deer was found infected with CWD from a mixed deer/elk herd in Lac Qui Parle County. That herd was also depopulated without additional CWD cases being detected.
- 2009: A captive elk herd in Olmsted County consisting of >600 animals was found infected with CWD. Following depopulation, a total of 4 elk were confirmed with the disease and the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) determined there was an apparent longstanding infection within the herd.
- 2012: A captive European red deer was found infected with CWD in a herd of approximately 400 animals in Ramsey County. This marked the first time CWD was discovered in this species (Schwabenlander et al. 2013). Also in 2012, the USDA discontinued funding to depopulate CWD-infected herds; thus, this herd was quarantined for several years until depopulation finally occurred in 2015 (with no additional CWD positive cases found).
- 2016: Two adult female white-tailed deer were detected with CWD from a captive mixed white-tailed and mule deer herd in Crow Wing County. This facility remained under quarantine as the owner chose not to depopulate the herd; it continued to operate as a shooting pen, although CWD was again detected in this facility in fall 2018.
- 2017: Movements of deer from the Crow Wing County herd to a farm in Meeker County revealed another infected adult female white-tailed deer, which was found dead in the facility and confirmed to have CWD. This herd of 15 deer was depopulated with 5 animals (33% prevalence) testing positive for CWD.
- 2017: In November 2017, CWD was detected in an adult male white-tailed deer that died in a Winona County captive deer facility. An additional adult male harvested in the facility in December 2017 was also confirmed infected with CWD. The remaining seven animals in this facility were depopulated in early 2018 and all deer tested positive for CWD (100% prevalence).
- 2019: The Crow Wing farm was depopulated in spring 2019 and 7 additional deer were identified as positive from 89 deer sampled. On-farm prevalence could not be determined because 13 of 20 found dead deer on the farm were not tested. A CWD positive deer was also detected in a small hobby farm in Douglas County

this year. An 8-year-old female was killed by its adult male pen-mate. The female was found to be CWD positive, while the male was euthanized and CWD was not detected.

- 2020: A Pine County farm, which provided the animals to the Douglas county herd, was found infected with the disease in January. This herd was depopulated and 5 of 9 (55%) deer were CWD-positive. In October, an adult doe on a farm in Houston County was found positive for CWD in October. In total, 10 of 46 (22%) deer were infected with the disease following depopulation in January 2021.
- 2021: A farm in Beltrami County that had received animals from the same source as the Houston County farm was quarantined and later found to be CWD positive. The farm was depopulated and 13 of 54 (24%) deer were infected with CWD. An illegal carcass dump site was discovered on public land adjacent to the Beltrami County farm property and carcass remains of 10-12 deer were matched to the CWD-positive herd. As a result, DNR constructed a 12-acre deer exclusionary fence to reduce risk of wild deer exposure to prions in the environment.
- 2022: A quarantined farm in Winona County, which sourced animals to both the Houston and Beltrami County CWD-positive herds, was found to have CWD. The herd was depopulated in October and 4 of 120 (3%) were infected with the disease.

In an effort to reduce risk of disease spread from CWD-infected farms to wild cervids, the DNR issued expedited emergency rules to temporarily prohibit the importation and movement of farmed white-tailed deer into and within Minnesota on three occasions between 2019 and 2021. The first two movement bans, which lasted <60 days, were in response to CWD discoveries on deer farms in Douglas (2019) and Houston/Beltrami Counties (2021). Movements of infected deer resulted in disease spread and additional time was needed to conduct epidemiological investigations to reduce risk. The most recent movement ban, issued in October 2021, was in response to a CWD-positive farm in Taylor County, Wisconsin that moved 387 deer into 7 states, including Minnesota. Minnesota state statues provide the DNR Commissioner with the authority to institute these expediated emergency rules to protect the state's wild cervids.

History of CWD in Minnesota in Wild Cervids

In response to the initial discovery of CWD in wild white-tailed deer of Wisconsin and the first Minnesota CWD-positive captive elk herd in 2002, the MNDNR developed a comprehensive wild deer CWD surveillance program. This included surveillance of hunterharvested and opportunistically encountered vehicle-killed and clinical-suspect deer, elk, or moose. A clinical-suspect cervid is defined as exhibiting physical signs, behavioral abnormalities, and/or locomotor difficulties consistent with CWD infection (Gilch 2016). From 2002–2004, nearly 28,000 deer were tested for CWD statewide with no positive results. Sampling occurred at the deer permit area (DPA) level with 95% confidence that the disease would have been detected if present in $\geq 1\%$ of the deer population in each DPA. Following completion of statewide surveillance, and no evidence of a long-standing infection in Minnesota, the MNDNR adjusted surveillance efforts and focused sampling of wild cervids in response to elevated risk factors. These risk factors include 1) detection of CWD-positive animals in a captive cervid facility in Minnesota, 2) proximity of positive CWD cases in wild deer in neighboring states, and 3) testing of clinical-suspects of CWD and other special wild cervid cases. These elements constitute the MNDNR's risk-based approach to CWD surveillance in Minnesota and permit more efficient use of finite resources (financial and personnel), as opposed to continuous statewide sampling. With this approach, some areas of the state (where risk factors remain low for an extended time period) would lack certainty that CWD remains absent and may warrant surveillance effort when resources allow. Since 2005, the MNDNR has tested an additional 110,000 deer for CWD using risk-based surveillance.

The first wild white-tailed deer found infected with CWD in Minnesota occurred in fall 2010, during the second year of risk-based surveillance efforts surrounding the CWD-positive captive elk facility in Olmsted County in 2009. From 2011–2013, MNDNR implemented the 2011 CWD Response Plan and over 4,000 deer were tested in this immediate area; no additional positives were detected (Hildebrand et al. 2013). The MNDNR concluded the disease was either found early enough to prevent transmission or local conditions favored a failure of disease establishment (Hanley et al. 2022). The CWD Management Zone that had been created through the response plan was dissolved in 2014, and harvest regulations and zone boundaries returned to what they were prior to the discovery of CWD.

Since the initial discovery of CWD in a wild deer in Minnesota, we have had 7 additional areas with introductions of the disease in wild deer across the state from fall 2016 though spring 2024. The following is a chronological account of recent CWD detections in wild deer:

- In fall 2016, surveillance efforts were prompted by a risk-based approach as detections of CWD in wild deer from western Wisconsin and northeastern Iowa increased and further encroached on Minnesota borders. As a result of this effort, three adult males were found infected with CWD in Fillmore County (DPA 348). Again, MNDNR implemented the 2011 CWD Response Plan and additional samples were collected during winter 2016-2017, which resulted in eight more CWD-positive deer found in a small geographic area near Preston, Minnesota. Initial disease prevalence was estimated at 0.36% within the newly established CWD Management Zone (DPA 603), with nearly all CWD cases found within a 64mi² core area. Over the next 5 years, continued surveillance suggests the disease is persisting, albeit at low levels (apparent prevalence from fall 2023 was 2.64%, suggesting the disease is increasing in apparent prevalence and established in this area. In 2019, the boundary of DPA 603 was dissolved back to its original DPA designations (DPAs 647 and 648) as new detections of CWD spread outside of the CWD Management Zone
- In fall 2018, CWD was discovered in wild deer adjacent to an infected deer farm in Winona County which was depopulated in 2017 (100% infection rate in the herd) with a history of poor fencing. Positive cases have continued to be found spatially associated with the cervid farm and have spread outward. To date, 65 deer have tested positive for CWD in DPA 646, the disease seems to be persisting at a low level. Apparent prevalence has slightly increased from 2020 (0.72%) to 2023 (1.09%).
- In winter 2019, a deer was found dead 0.5mi from a CWD-positive deer farm discovered in 2017 in Crow Wing County that resulted in precautionary surveillance of wild deer in the surrounding area. Since that initial detection, 2 additional wild deer have been detected out of >13,000 deer tested, suggesting there is no endemic disease in the wild.
- In winter 2020, a sick wild deer was reported by the public near Chub Lake Wildlife Management Area in Dakota County. This deer was confirmed to have CWD and an exposure source could not be determined. To date, 16 additional CWD-positive deer have

been detected in this area, suggesting the disease is persisting at a low apparent prevalence rate of 0.26%.

- In fall 2021, a hunter-harvested wild deer was submitted directly to a testing laboratory by a hunter in Polk County and was found to have CWD. The location of this deer was within a mile of the North Dakota border, along the riparian corridor of the Red River Valley. Subsequent testing has identified 3 additional cases along the same corridor; exposure source has not yet been determined.
- In winter 2022, a vehicle-killed deer was tested for CWD in the city of Grand Rapids in Itasca County and found positive. Three additional deer from the immediate area have since tested positive for CWD. Subsequent testing in the surrounding area has not revealed additional disease. Exposure source could not be determined; however, urban areas have been considered higher risk for CWD from people transporting high risk deer parts to their homes.
- In fall 2022, 2 hunter-harvested male deer were found positive in Hubbard County through precautionary surveillance initiated in 2021, due to a CWD-positive deer farm discovered in 2021 with a high-risk illegal carcass disposal site. These deer were harvested 10 miles south of Bemidji and >35 miles from the infected deer farm. Exposure source has not yet been determined.

The current footprint of CWD in wild cervids in Minnesota has resulted in the creation of six unique CWD Management Zones, spread across the state since 2016. However, the vast majority of CWD-positive deer (89%) are from southeast Minnesota, with only 6% of cases occurring in the southern Twin Cities area and 5% of cases occurring in northern Minnesota. While harvesting a CWD-positive deer remains a rare occurrence for Minnesota hunters, the number of hunters impacted by regulations centered around the surveillance and management for the disease has increased markedly.

Risk-based Surveillance for CWD in Wild Cervids of Minnesota

The MNDNR goal for CWD surveillance in wild cervids is to detect the disease, if it is present, as early as possible since introduction. Since 2005, the MNDNR has relied on a risk-based surveillance approach that identifies risk factors related to CWD introduction into wild cervids, which include:

- 1. Discovery of CWD in a Minnesota captive cervid facility.
- Recent detection or significant spread of CWD in wild cervids in a bordering state or province.
- Detection of CWD through testing of clinical-suspects or other special cervid cases.

When these risk factors are identified, MNDNR will initiate a series of actions to conduct precautionary CWD surveillance. The MNDNR will also alert tribal authorities once a CWDpositive detection has been confirmed or if there is significant CWD risk from a bordering state or province; federal resource managers, non-governmental organizations, and other stakeholders in the affected area will also be notified about surveillance plans. This will enable effective partnering to support CWD surveillance goals.

For all MNDNR CWD surveillance efforts, the data collection process will include the extraction of both medial retropharyngeal lymph nodes, determination of sex and age class for each animal, and identification of the harvest location. Typically, sampling effort is focused on yearling (between 1 and 2 years of age) and adult (>2 years of age) cervids. Generally, fawns (<1 year of age) will not be tested for CWD given the low probability of testing positive; however, there may be exceptions to this general rule. All samples will be inventoried, entered into a database, and sent to an accredited laboratory for enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) testing. Positive ELISA samples will be considered "suspect-positive," until confirmatory testing using immunohistochemistry testing (IHC) is performed at either the accredited laboratory or the National Veterinary Services Laboratory in Ames, Iowa. If additional diagnostic testing options become available in the future and complete a nationally recognized validation process, considerations will be made to incorporate those into our testing protocols.

Discovery of CWD in a Minnesota Captive Cervid Facility

If CWD is detected in a captive cervid facility in Minnesota without white-tailed deer, the Minnesota Board of Animal Health (BAH) has the lead role of response inside the facility, including further testing of captive animals, determining the source population, and identifying if animals were recently sold to other farms in Minnesota or other states (called trace-out facilities). For captive herds containing white-tailed deer or mixed herds that contain white-tailed deer, MNDNR has the lead role and responsibilities related to the epidemiological investigation and resulting actions. The MNDNR will determine if wild cervids in the surrounding area are infected with CWD by conducting precautionary surveillance in the immediate area for a minimum of 3 consecutive years, which may include hunter-harvested surveillance, special hunts, landowner shooting permits, and agency-directed culling.

The following activities will occur as quickly as possible, regardless of the time of year the discovery is made:

- a. Implement a recreational feeding ban to reduce contact rates and decrease disease transmission potential until surveillance in wild cervids has been completed. At a minimum, this area would include the county containing the infected facility and any surrounding county that encompasses at least 2 miles or more within a 15-mile radius of the farm.
- b. Establish a CWD Surveillance Zone around the infected captive cervid facility. During the initial response year, this would include the DPA containing the infected facility and all or portions of surrounding DPAs. If an adequate sample is collected and disease is not detected in a wild cervid the first year, the surveillance area may be reduced to a more localized area around the facility in subsequent years.

Following these initial steps, a surveillance strategy will be designed to determine if CWD is present in the wild cervid population. The sampling method(s) will be dependent upon multiple factors, such as 1) the wild cervid density and distribution surrounding the positive facility, 2) the history of wild cervid surveillance in the area, 3) expected volume of hunter-harvested deer in the area, 4) the overall compliance of the infected facility to regulations designed to minimize CWD transmission risks, and 5) the timing of the discovery relative to the next hunting season. After evaluating each of these factors, the decision will be made whether to obtain samples for CWD testing from hunter-harvest efforts and/or other mechanisms such as special hunts, landowner shooting permits, or agency-directed culling. Further, there will be increased efforts to sample clinical-suspect and vehicle-killed wild cervids, when possible. Any confirmed positive CWD cases in wild cervids discovered through these efforts will trigger transition from precautionary surveillance period will occur for 3 consecutive years, the maximum observed incubation period of the disease in cervids under experimental settings. In each of these years,

MNDNR will collect adequate samples to ensure at least 95% confidence that CWD would be detected if prevalence is \geq 1% in the underlying wild cervid population. After 3 years, MNDNR would reevaluate the risk and determine if continued surveillance or other precautionary activities are necessary.

Recent Detection or Significant Spread of CWD in Wild Cervids in a Bordering State or <u>Province</u>

Currently, CWD has been found in wild cervids in all the US states surrounding Minnesota, as well as the Canadian province of Manitoba. In the Dakotas, CWD has been found in mule deer, white-tailed deer, and elk but the infection remains in the western portions of these states with low risk of spread into Minnesota from natural wild cervid movements. However, CWD has been increasingly found in wild white-tailed deer in northeastern Iowa and western Wisconsin, where the potential for disease spread into Minnesota through natural deer movements is an ongoing concern. In 2021, Manitoba detected its first CWD positive in wild mule deer on its Western border shared with Saskatchewan. Since this detection in 2021, the province has identified 26 more positive CWD deer, both in mule deer (22) and white-tailed deer (4) and has observed a radial geographic spread closer to North Dakota and Minnesota to the south and southeast.

Wildlife professionals in the surrounding states and provinces routinely exchange information on CWD surveillance and detections in their jurisdictions. These ongoing communications help MNDNR assess risk of disease incursion into wild cervid populations at our borders. When new cases of CWD are found near Minnesota's border or there has been significant spread of the disease from an endemic area towards Minnesota, the MNDNR's riskbased surveillance efforts will be implemented. The surveillance response will include:

- Sampling of hunter-harvested wild cervids in the DPA or DPAs closest to encroaching CWD cases in the neighboring state or province. An adequate sample will be collected to ensure at least 95% confidence that CWD would be detected if prevalence is ≥1% in the underlying cervid population.
- Increased efforts to sample clinical-suspect and vehicle-killed wild cervids, when possible, in the DPAs closest to encroaching CWD cases in the neighboring state or province.

Any confirmed positive CWD cases in wild cervids discovered through these efforts will trigger transition from precautionary surveillance to our initial response to CWD detection in wild cervids. If the disease is not detected, MNDNR will evaluate the need for continued surveillance beyond one year.

Detection of CWD through Testing of Clinical-suspects or Other Special Cervid Cases.

Year-round and across Minnesota, clinical-suspect wild cervids found exhibiting symptoms consistent with CWD infection will be tested for CWD when possible. In some cases, cervids found dead that exhibit emaciation, in the absence of observed abnormal behaviors, may also be tested for CWD. This may include the testing of vehicle-killed deer, at the discretion of field staff and available resources; yet this surveillance method by itself not effective as an early disease detection tool and typically cost prohibitive. Clinical symptoms of CWD infection are non-specific and may be due to a multitude of other causes, diseases or health conditions, these suspect animals have been shown to have a higher probability of CWD infection compared with apparently healthy deer in areas with established CWD infection (Walsh and Miller 2010, Jennelle et al. 2018). Recently, a deer study from the CWD endemic area in southern WI reported that infectious disease was the leading suspected cause of death, with high prevalence of CWD (42.4%; of 245 evaluated) and pneumonia (51.2%; of 168 evaluated) being the most common clinical conditions (Gilbertson et al. 2022). In areas where CWD is not known to exist or has gone undetected, samples from cervids exhibiting clinical signs associated with CWD are considered high value and are a useful albeit opportunistic source for detecting the disease. For example, in Illinois the first documented wild white-tailed deer with CWD was detected in 2002 after sampling a clinical suspect; the adult female from Boone County had aspiration pneumonia, food impaction, and behavioral abnormalities (Illinois DNR 2013). In Arkansas during February 2016, along with a CWD-positive hunter-harvested elk, a clinical-suspect white-tailed deer tested positive for CWD; these animals heralded the discovery of CWD in Arkansas (Arkansas Game and Fish Commission 2018). Further, the initial discovery of CWD in Dakota County, Minnesota in 2020 was through sick deer surveillance of an emaciated, neurologic adult male deer reported by a member of the public. Clinical-suspect cervids are reported opportunistically to MNDNR when they are encountered by the public, law enforcement, hunters, or field staff, and in most cases, emaciation is the primary cause for concern. Since 2002, MNDNR has tested >1,000 clinical-suspect cervids throughout the state.

Northern Minnesota is home to a small-to-moderate population of both wild elk and moose. Limited hunting opportunities sometimes occur for these species and MNDNR tests harvested animals for CWD as a precautionary measure. Further, opportunistic reports of sick moose or elk with neurologic symptoms consistent with CWD will also be screened for the disease at necropsy. Since 2004, >250 elk from northwest Minnesota and >350 moose from the northeast were tested for CWD with no detections (Carstensen et al. 2015). While these species have very small population sizes in Minnesota, their ranges overlap with wild white-tailed deer. Elk, in particular, also undergo short-distance migratory movements into Canada and perhaps North Dakota, thus increasing contact rates with cervids outside of our jurisdiction.

In cases when a captive cervid(s) escapes from a facility and is reported running at-large to MNDNR, efforts will be made to recover or euthanize and test these animals for CWD as a precautionary rule-out for the disease. The escaped cervid(s) may be euthanized by the owner and testing will occur through established protocols. Often, MNDNR is asked to assist in dispatching of these animals and samples are collected for CWD testing; test results are shared with BAH. See the 2022 DNR Escaped Captive Protocol for additional information.

CWD Detection in Wild Cervids: Initial Response, Management of Persistent Infection, and Management of Endemic Disease in Minnesota

Once CWD has been detected in a wild cervid(s), MNDNR will engage aggressively in a series of actions to eliminate the disease, if possible, prevent or minimize disease spread, and detect spread if it occurs. If MNDNR determines that CWD is unlikely to be eliminated from an area, using a set of pre-defined triggers, we will transition to the containment and management of a persistent infection on the landscape. If MNDNR determines that CWD is established in an area and the disease cannot be eliminated, we will transition to the management of endemic infection. The suite of available actions will generally progress through a process outlined in the following stages:

- 1. Initial Response to CWD Detection in Wild Cervids.
- 2. Management of Persistent CWD Infection in Wild Cervids.
- 3. Management of Endemic CWD Infection in Wild Cervids.

Initial Response to CWD Detection in Wild Cervids

In the event that CWD is identified in a wild cervid in Minnesota, the goals of MNDNR's initial management response to CWD detection are to: 1) act aggressively to eliminate the disease, if possible, 2) prevent or minimize disease spread, 3) collect adequate samples to monitor disease prevalence and spread, and 4) engage stakeholders and provide accurate and current information about CWD to agency personnel, tribal partners, stakeholders, the public, and legislators. To meet these goals, the following actions will occur as soon as possible and include:

- a. Work closely with tribal partners on all aspects of the response and continued management, especially where the disease occurs on or near reservation lands or ceded territories.
- b. Conduct outreach activities related to CWD discovery, meet with stakeholders, and schedule a public meeting to inform interested individuals of the MNDNR short-term response plan.
- c. Where possible, once adequate snow occurs, complete an aerial survey in the immediate area surrounding the CWD-positive detection(s) to estimate wild cervid population density and distribution on the landscape.
- d. Establish a CWD Management Zone (which will approximate a 15-mile radius around the positive detection), the exact size of which will depend on the locations and distribution of infected cervids as well as DPA boundaries. Recent research has supported this zone size as adequate to contain 82% of long-distance movements of wild deer in southeast Minnesota, where both dispersal and migratory behaviors were documented (Jennelle et al. 2022). It is possible this zone will increase in size as new information becomes available. Creation of a CWD management zone is dependent on identifiable and enforceable boundaries. Ideally, the DPA containing the wild positive is fully included within the new CWD Management Zone. If at least 2 miles of the 15-mile radius encompasses the adjacent DPAs they will be added to a surveillance zone in the first year to gather more information on disease apparent prevalence and spatial distribution. All DPAs determined to have a CWD positive will become part of a 600-series identifier (e.g., DPA 346 will change to DPA 646), which clearly identifies the DPA as within a disease management zone

for rule-making and other communications.

- e. Implement a cervid recreational feeding and attractant ban to reduce contact rates and decrease disease transmission potential. At a minimum, this area would include the county containing the positive wild deer and any surrounding county that encompasses at least 2 miles or more within a 15-mile radius of this detection.
- f. Institute and enforce carcass movement restrictions out of the CWD Management Zone of all deer (including fawns), and only allow certain parts (i.e., quarters or other portions of meat with no part of the spinal column or head attached, or the head and portion of the neck may be transported to a licensed taxidermist within 48 hours) to leave prior to receiving test results.
- g. During initial discovery population management goals will be paused and the focus will be on reducing wild deer densities within the CWD Management Zone and, more specifically, around locations of CWD-positive deer to reduce opportunities for transmission. Theoretically this will increase harvest and enhance our sampling efforts, providing more information on disease apparent prevalence and spatial distribution. Once adequate data is obtained, population management goals can continue and harvest designations can reflect population goals, so long as they do not conflict with disease management.
- h. Establish a CWD Surveillance Zone for enhanced surveillance in all or portions of DPAs that surround the CWD Management Zone for one fall hunting season to determine spatial extent of the disease outbreak. If no other DPA boundaries intersect with a 15-mile radius from the location of the CWD positive deer, this sampling effort may be delayed to further determine spatial extent of disease within the CWD Management Zone and adapt accordingly.
- i. For deer permit areas within a CWD management zone, the 'minimum' harvest designation must be either-sex (one-deer limit), unless strong justification is provided for Lottery (or Bucks Only). For example, if repeated years of adequate surveillance indicate a very low prevalence rate.
- j. Conduct mandatory CWD sampling at adequate levels to monitor changes in prevalence and disease spread. MNDNR will collect adequate samples to ensure at least 95% confidence that CWD would be detected if prevalence is ≥1% in the

underlying wild cervid population of that (each) DPA.

 bevelop a communications and outreach plan to inform and engage agency partners, the public, and stakeholder groups.

The sampling method following initial detection will be dependent upon the timing of the discovery in relation to the next upcoming hunting season. If there is sufficient time for the rulemaking process to implement changes by the next hunting season, then hunting opportunities will be liberalized and hunter-harvested surveillance will be used as the primary method of determining the disease prevalence and spatial distribution. Regulations will mandate the presentation of the carcass of any cervid harvested within the CWD Management Zone at officially designated sites within the zone. Sample collection methods will be similar to those previously described in the risk-based surveillance methods; however, for adult cervids, a front incisor may be extracted to estimate age by cementum annuli. A muscle sample for genetic analysis may also be collected. Hunter-harvest surveillance will become an annual occurrence and be designed to monitor changes in the apparent prevalence and spatial distribution of the disease. Hunting opportunities within the CWD Management Zone will be liberalized to increase harvest and ensure adequate numbers of cervids are available for sampling. Regulatory alternatives could include, 1) increased or unlimited bag limits, 2) elimination of special rules that protect specific classes of deer (e.g., antler point restrictions [APR]), 3) institute special hunts, 4) allow harvest of multiple antlered deer per hunter, 5) conduct agency-directed culling, and 6) issue landowner shooting permits. If numbers of hunter-harvested deer are not sufficient to provide an adequate estimate of disease apparent prevalence and spatial distribution, the MNDNR will consider additional options to collect supplemental samples. These options may include taxidermist networks to obtain high value CWD samples (adult male deer) and agencydirected culling. Additionally, voluntary testing opportunities may be implemented to provide hunters the ability to have deer tested prior to movements out of restricted zones or to alleviate concerns regarding consumption of venison. Following annual surveillance, locations of positive cervids will be evaluated and the boundaries of the CWD Management Zone will be adjusted, if necessary.

If there is insufficient time for the rule-making process to implement changes to the hunting seasons following the discovery of a CWD positive wild cervid, the MNDNR will assess disease prevalence and spatial distribution through the use of any or all of the following tools, 1) designating special hunts, 2) offering landowner shooting permits, and 3) agency-directed culling. In addition, efforts will be made to raise awareness and encourage reporting of clinical-suspect cases. These efforts will be followed up by liberalized hunting opportunities and hunter-harvest surveillance during the following fall hunting season.

The MNDNR will continue hunter-harvest surveillance in the CWD Management Zone for a minimum of three consecutive years with an adequate sample. Sampling goals will be established to assure at least 99% confidence that CWD would be detected if it occurred in >1% of the local deer population, during each year following initial detection. Efforts will be made to provide on-site quartering tripods and disposal options (dumpsters) at central locations within the CWD Management Zone to reduce the risk of potential transport of CWD-infected carcass material outside the zone. If additional CWD-positives are found, the response efforts will continue and MNDNR will determine if a trigger has been met to transition into management of a persistent infection. If no additional CWD-positive wild cervids are found over this 3-year surveillance period, the MNDNR will reevaluate the risk and determine if continued surveillance is necessary. At such time, the CWD Management Zone may be dissolved and DPA boundaries would revert back to their original designation. Any established population management goals will be paused, and the focus will be on reducing wild deer densities within the CWD Management Zone. Once adequate data is obtained, population management goals can continue and harvest designations can reflect population goals, so long as they do not conflict with disease management.

Transition to Management of a Persistent CWD Infection

Wildlife disease control strategies must be based on an understanding of specific disease etiology and epidemiology, and the dynamics of the cervid population(s). Where infectious diseases exist at a significant prevalence or over a wide-spread area, they may be impossible to eliminate from wild animal populations and the environment. CWD has a long incubation period and coupled with its ability for lateral transmission and environmental contamination, once persistent in wild deer in Minnesota, the disease may only be managed to minimize its impacts and limit spread to new areas of Minnesota. Therefore, MNDNR has identified 4 primary triggers that would signal the shift from response of initial CWD detection to the management of persistent CWD infection in wild cervids:

- Apparent CWD prevalence is >1% of deer sampled in the CWD Management Zone during the initial sampling effort, which would suggest the disease is not new and may already be established in the affected area.
- Apparent CWD prevalence is <1% of deer sampled in the CWD Management Zone during initial sampling effort, but increases and includes more infected females during consecutive years of surveillance.
- 3. The spatial extent of the disease expands beyond the initial affected area and suggests the disease has spread.
- 4. Apparent CWD prevalence is low (e.g. <1% in adult deer) in the CWD Management Zone during the initial sampling effort and remains low during consecutive years of surveillance, but is not decreasing and disease is found in younger animals (e.g., deer < 2 years old) indicating active transmission.

Management of Persistent CWD Infection in Wild Cervids

If CWD is determined to be persistent in wild cervids, the MNDNR will implement additional mechanisms to manage the disease and prevent spread. The goals for managing persistent CWD infection in wild cervids will include, 1) contain CWD infections within the CWD Management Zone, 2) minimize the impact of the disease statewide, 3) reduce the prevalence in affected areas, 4) collect adequate samples to monitor disease prevalence and spread, 5) provide accurate and current information about CWD to the public, agency personnel, and stakeholder groups, and 6) engage in applied research to better understand the epidemiology, transmission, and management of CWD. To meet these goals, the following actions will occur as soon as possible:

- a. Manage for a younger age structure in the CWD Management Zone to maintain a higher rate of population turnover through liberalized harvest opportunities and elimination of any special rules to protect specific classes of deer, if they exist (e.g., APR, buck cross-tagging).
- b. Increase antlered deer harvest (e.g., allowing harvest of multiple antlered deer per hunter), as adult bucks have a greater chance of having CWD.
- c. Emphasize harvest efforts in optimum habitat(s) where deer movement is most likely to occur, such as riparian drainages.

- d. Per statute (97A.045, subdivision 11), issue a replacement license to hunters that have harvested a CWD-positive wild cervid.
- e. Do not increase overall deer density in the CWD Management Zone in order to lower emigration rate and distance traveled by dispersing deer from the CWD Management Zone (mitigating potential disease spread outside the zone).
- 1. Continue the cervid recreational feeding and attractant ban to reduce disease transmission opportunities.
- f. Continue to enforce deer carcass movement restrictions out of the CWD Management Zone. Only allow certain parts (i.e., quarters or other portions of meat with no part of the spinal column or head attached, or the head and portion of the neck may be transported to a licensed taxidermist within 48 hours) to leave the zone prior to receiving test results.
- g. Designation of CWD Core Area(s), defined as areas where multiple CWD-positive cervids have been detected in close geographic proximity. CWD Core Areas will be designated by a 1-mile buffer of surrounding sections (1 mi²) where positive deer are detected (Appendix B). These areas represent the known highest risk for CWD transmission between wild deer and through contamination of the environment with infectious prions and will take priority for intensive management actions to mitigate disease spread.
- h. Consider the use of incentives for landowners and hunters to remove CWD-positive deer from the CWD Management Zone and Core Areas. These incentives, which may be financial or non-financial (e.g., cash rewards, life-time deer hunting licenses, huntingrelated merchandise, donation to local charities, etc.) may be given to hunters, landowners, and/or the communities where CWD positive cervids are detected. Hunter and landowner surveys conducted in the CWD Management Zone (and surrounding areas) will help inform the acceptance and feasibility of the array of possible incentives.
- i. If efforts to significantly reduce deer numbers in CWD Core Areas are insufficient through recreational hunting (regular and special seasons), agency-directed culling will likely occur to increase the probability of removing infected individuals from the landscape and reduce disease transmission. Culling efforts may include removal of social groups associated with adult female CWD-positive deer because research has demonstrated that fine-scale group removal can be effective for managing CWD in wild

deer (Grear et al. 2010).

j. Develop a communications and outreach plan to inform and engage agency partners, the public, and stakeholder groups.

As with initial response actions, following implementation of these additional CWD management mechanisms, the prevalence and spatial distribution of the disease will be assessed through the sampling of wild cervids. All sampling and testing procedures, as well as data collected and databases maintained, will be consistent with initial management efforts.

Transition to Management of an Endemic CWD Infection

There is a lot of uncertainty surrounding the determination of when CWD is established in the affected population and no effective management strategy will eliminate the disease from the landscape. Functionally, this new reality could be phrased as "living with CWD". There is no disease management handbook in existence that clearly defines when a CWD outbreak has achieved endemic status. However, through statistically valid disease surveillance that provides an adequate sample over multiple years and includes a representative sample of all sex and age cohorts, inferences can be made as to when a CWD infection is endemic. MNDNR has identified 3 surveillance thresholds that would signal the shift from either initial CWD response or persistent CWD management to managing for endemic CWD in wild cervids:

- Apparent CWD prevalence is >5% of deer sampled in the CWD Management Zone during the initial sampling effort, which would suggest the disease was established in the affected area when discovered.
- Apparent CWD prevalence is <5% of deer sampled in the CWD Management Zone during initial sampling effort but increases over a 3-year monitoring period to exceed 5%, and infected individuals include more adult females, and yearlings, or fawns of either sex.
- The targeted removal of deer in CWD Core Areas has been utilized as a management action; however, has not significantly reduced disease prevalence within the CWD Management Zone. We assume disease transmission is now both lateral (animal-to-animal) and indirect, as environmental contamination has become significant with a high prevalence of disease on the landscape. In this case, the continued targeted removal of social groups is unlikely to break transmission cycles, as uninfected individuals

immigrating into the affected area have a high probability of exposure to CWD through prions found in contaminated soil, plants, or other substrates.

Management of Endemic CWD Infection in Wild Cervids

If CWD is determined to be endemic in wild cervids, the MNDNR will reduce efforts to aggressively manage this disease within the CWD Management Zone and shift focus and resources to preventing spread to new areas of the state. The goals for managing an endemic CWD infection in wild cervids will include, 1) minimize the impact of the disease statewide, 2) collect adequate samples to monitor disease prevalence and spread, 3) utilize liberal harvest regulations to reduce the prevalence in the endemic area, 4) aggressively respond to new detections of disease outside of the endemic area, 5) provide accurate and current information about CWD to the public, agency personnel, and stakeholder groups, and 6) apply adaptive management to adjust efforts as new information on successful CWD mitigation strategies emerge. To meet these goals, the following actions will occur as soon as possible:

- Aggressively respond to any new detection of CWD outside the CWD Management Zone, by utilizing hunters, landowners, and agency-directed culling to reduce deer numbers within 2 mi² of this detection.
- b. Continue to manage for a younger age structure in the CWD Management Zone to maintain a higher rate of population turnover through liberalized harvest opportunities.
- c. Conduct periodic, mandatory sampling of hunter-harvested deer in the CWD Management Zone to monitor changes in disease prevalence and spread (e.g, sampling occurs every 3-5 years).
- Implement voluntary surveillance options for deer harvested within the CWD
 Management Zone, such as self-service, sampling kiosks and self-mailing test-kits.
- e. Continue the cervid recreational feeding and attractant bans to reduce disease transmission opportunities.
- f. Continue to enforce deer carcass movement restrictions for all deer (including fawns) out of the CWD Management Zone. Only allow certain parts (i.e., quarters or other portions of meat with no part of the spinal column or head attached or the head and portion of the neck may be transported to a licensed taxidermist within 48 hours) to leave the zone prior to receiving test results.
- g. Develop a communications and outreach plan to the public and stakeholder groups.

Supporting Strategies and Evidence

Most states across the US that have discovered CWD have implemented some type of response or management plan. No single state has been successful in eliminating the disease from wild cervids once it has become endemic, but Illinois has been successful in controlling CWD prevalence with localized intensive management (Manjerovic et al. 2014, Varga et al. 2021) and efforts to remove entire social groups of deer (Tosa et al. 2016). The key factor is the level of infection determined in the cervid population at the time of initial detection. For example, when Wisconsin first discovered CWD in wild deer in the southwestern part of the state in 2002, it was assumed to be a recent introduction of the disease and management strategies initially focused on disease eradication. However, subsequent surveillance revealed that the disease was already widespread at the time of discovery and modeling suggested that CWD had been on the landscape for at least 20 years (Jennelle et al. 2014). From 2002–2023, Wisconsin tested >316,000 wild deer, of which over 12,000 tested positive. Wisconsin has CWD in wild or farmed deer in 49 counties, or 68% of the state.

Despite an initial policy of CWD eradication when the disease was discovered in 2002, Wisconsin essentially relaxed their intensive CWD management efforts after 2007 due to political and social pressures mounting against how the agency was managing the disease (Holsman et al. 2010). The consequences of this passive approach to CWD management in wild cervids are demonstrated to result in high endemic levels of CWD prevalence that can have negative impacts on populations. CWD prevalence within core areas of Wisconsin have shown an overall increasing trend in all sex and age classes. During the past 20 years, the trend in prevalence in adult males has risen from 8-10% to 50% and in adult females from 3-4% to nearly 35% in Iowa County, Wisconsin. Simulation modeling suggests that sustained intensive harvest of antlered deer could eventually reduce prevalence (Jennelle et al. 2014), but may severely disrupt the hunting culture in Wisconsin. Moreover, reports of clinical-suspect deer on the Wisconsin landscape are on the rise. In earlier years (2007-2011) the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (WDNR 2018) responded to an average of 22 CWD suspect deer per year in the Southern part of the state with about 30% of those suspect deer testing positive. In subsequent years (2011-2014) WDNR has responded to an average of 44 CWD suspect

deer in this area with about 45% testing positive. WDNR tested 127 suspect deer from across the state from April 1, 2017 to March 31, 2018, and 90 were CWD-positive (71%).

In some cases, when CWD is first detected in wild cervids, the extent of disease impacts may be far-reaching. For example, in northwestern Arkansas in February 2016, CWD was detected in both a hunter-harvested elk and a clinical-suspect white-tailed deer in Newton County. Initial sampling efforts in the vicinity of these cases revealed 23% CWD sample prevalence, which suggests that the disease had been present in the underlying deer population for many years. Further sampling in the surrounding counties has resulted in additional CWD detection in wild deer, and it is clear that Arkansas is dealing with an established and growing CWD cluster. Finding such an advanced disease prevalence in the underlying deer population greatly reduces the chances for disease eradication and warrants a policy of disease containment.

Studies from Colorado and Wyoming demonstrate the disease can ultimately cause deer population declines. Prevalence in adult male mule deer on winter ranges in Colorado more than doubled within a 6-year period, reaching levels of 25-40%, and researchers concluded that high prevalence and low survival of infected deer was sufficient to have caused a population decline (Miller et al. 2008). A study of a white-tailed deer population in southeastern Wyoming from 2003-2010 documented a 10.4% annual decline due to CWD (prevalence rates were 32 - 44%), where infected deer were 4.5 times more likely to die annually than non-infected deer (Edmunds et al. 2016). A study of a mule deer population in Wyoming experiencing more than 20% CWD prevalence, was found to be declining annually by 21% under the best supported models (DeVivo et al. 2017). Further, a study on the impacts of CWD on deer survival in Wisconsin's endemic area showed collared deer with CWD died at three times the rate of uninfected animals (WNDR 2018, Gilbertson et al. 2022). This important project is providing unequivocal evidence of CWD-associated mortality of white-tailed deer, which previous modeling has suggested (Samuel and Storm 2016).

Several examples do exist where CWD was detected in wild deer and did not become established in the local deer population. New York discovered CWD in a wild deer that was geographically associated with a CWD-positive captive cervid facility. Initial surveillance in 2005 indicated <0.1% prevalence in wild deer surrounding the captive facility (only one positive deer was found) and subsequent surveillance efforts have failed to detect more positives in the wild. In New York's situation, apparent early detection and the swift response taken by the wildlife agency appears to have occurred prior to CWD becoming endemic in the wild population. Similarly, MNDNR's first occurrence of CWD in a wild deer in Olmsted County in 2010 was found in close association (2 miles) from a CWD-positive captive cervid (elk) facility. Through aggressive surveillance actions over the next 3 years, no additional infection was found and the disease did not appear to have become established. Lastly, a single CWD-infected doe was found in Washburn County in northwestern Wisconsin in 2011, hundreds of miles from known endemic areas within the state. Nearly 3,000 additional deer were sampled in that county from 2012-2017, with no additional positives found. Hanely et al. (2022) found that "one and done" or failed outbreaks of CWD can occur when the outlook for an epidemic hinged on transmission rates, the magnitude of environmental contamination, and system type (density or frequency dependent).

Based upon the current understanding of CWD in wild cervids, eradication of the disease, once established as an endemic infection in the wild population, is not a realistic management objective within the infected area. However, as New York, Wisconsin, and Minnesota's past experience have shown (for both CWD and bovine tuberculosis), if the disease is detected in wild cervids before it has become established in the area, an aggressive approach can help limit its growth and spread. Research on disease transmission, susceptibility to infection, improved surveillance and management strategies continues in many states and have included multi-state collaborations using combined datasets for improved inference.

Adaptive Management

The MNDNR has adopted an adaptive management strategy in its approach to wildlife disease outbreaks, which is structured to facilitate learning from management activities and allows flexibility to alter disease management activities depending on effectiveness of the methods applied, future research results, and public acceptance. This is in accordance with recommendations for adaptive management of CWD created by the Western Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies (WAFWA 2017) and Best Management Practices (BMPs) for prevention, surveillance and management of CWD created by the Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies

(AFWA 2018).

As an example of the concept of adaptive management, deer management practices will be influenced by new and ongoing research aimed at demonstrating how CWD spreads on the landscape by wild cervids. Based on extension of recent work modeling the spread (i.e., diffusion) of disease across the landscape (Hefley et al. 2017), preliminary results suggest that the rate of CWD spread is accelerated along riparian drainages and riverine habitat. This supports the notion of emphasizing deer harvest efforts along these strategically important and preferred habitats for deer (Norbert et al. 2016, Edmunds et al. 2017) to minimize CWD spread outside the management and buffer zones. Ahmed et al. (2024) used machine learning models with CWD surveillance data from 16 eastern and midwestern states and found that hunter harvest (proxy for deer density), distance to steams, clay-based soils, and forest cover were the top predictors of CWD incidence. Use of advanced tools such as this can inform surveillance planning and help predict effectiveness of management actions aimed at curbing disease spread.

What the Discovery of CWD Means for Minnesota's Hunters

Ultimately, deer hunters in Minnesota will be an integral component of the CWD response plan and deer population management. Although the CDC, National Institute of Health, and other public health agencies have concluded there is no known link between CWD and any neurological disease in humans (MaWhinney et al. 2006, Sandberg et al. 2010, Groveman et al. 2024), it is still recommended that people avoid the consumption of venison from infected deer. It will be the hunter and their families' decision to consume the meat of a confirmed-positive animal.

Hunters can expect continued surveillance in existing CWD Management Zones and occasional establishment of CWD Surveillance Zones when elevated risk triggers the need for more testing. The testing in designated CWD Management Zones will be provided free of charge to hunters and will primarily consist of mandatory sampling during the opening weekend of firearms deer season, although a wide variety of voluntary sampling options will continue to be available during all deer seasons (archery, firearm and muzzleloader). The MNDNR will also work with taxidermists to obtain samples from high value deer (adult males) for surveillance so the cape or shoulder mount of the animal will not be destroyed. The discovery of CWD in wild deer will have an impact on deer population numbers and hunting opportunities. In the short term, there may be an expansion of opportunities in the form of special hunts and more liberal bag limits. In the long-term, hunters can expect fewer and younger deer in localized areas as densities must be kept low to minimize disease spread. There will also be more regulations regarding the import/export of whole deer carcasses and carcass parts. To help minimize risk of any infected carcasses leaving the CWD Management Zone, dumpsters will be strategically placed for hunters to properly dispose of carcass remains, assuming adequate funding exists to support this activity. There will also be quartering or butchering stations/tripods set-up near these dumpsters, allowing hunters to quarter their deer and leave the CWD Management Zone prior to receiving their test result. The deer donation program will be expanded to allow hunters an option for additional harvest of deer in areas critical for CWD management. Additionally, recreational deer feeding and use of artificial and natural deer attractants will be banned in counties that contain CWD Management Zones and some surrounding counties as well.

Applied Research

Management of CWD will require a more thorough understanding of the disease and underlying deer populations, including how it is spread and how we can optimize control strategies that ensure a healthy deer population and provide recreational and subsistence opportunities for hunters. The MNDNR will support and conduct, on a priority basis, applied research that will facilitate continued understanding of CWD dynamics in white-tailed deer. The MNDNR will continue to monitor research that is occurring on CWD and other TSEs to ensure the most current and comprehensive information is utilized. Research will be aimed at improving the management of the disease. Specific research objectives may include:

- Research on the epidemiology and population effects of CWD on Minnesota's wild deer population.
- 2. Research on deer movement in the local deer population to better predict potential disease spread.
- 3. Research to evaluate the effectiveness of specific management strategies.
- 4. Continue research on the relatedness of CWD-infected individuals to assess control strategies that include removal of family groups in CWD Core Areas.
- Construction of epidemiological models to better predict how CWD will behave on the landscape, and guide management actions.

- 6. Human dimension research on attitudes and beliefs of Tribal communities, landowners, hunters, and the general public on CWD management actions.
- Collaborate with other states or regions working with combined datasets to address CWD surveillance or management issues that cross jurisdictional boundaries.

CWD Communications

Chronic wasting disease is of interest to both the hunting and non-hunting communities at the local, national, and international level. As the public agency charged with managing CWD in Minnesota's wild deer population, the MNDNR has an obligation to provide timely, complete, and accurate information about all aspects of the disease to the public. To ensure effective and transparent communication with the general public, tribal authorities, stakeholder groups (including federal resource managers, non-governmental organizations, and others), and the media about CWD, the MNDNR will develop and follow a communication plan. This will include updates on MNDNR's website, news releases, brochures, videos, podcasts, articles in local newspapers or magazines, social media messaging, and public meetings or informal workshops related to CWD. Resources about CWD on MNDNR's website will include current surveillance and CWD-positive detection status, future surveillance plans, information about CWD, videos about how to quarter a harvested deer or collect samples for CWD testing, and the ability for hunters to look up CWD test results.

Effective and timely communication is critical for successful CWD management response efforts; it provides transparency for agency actions, builds relationships between the agency and stakeholders, and lays the foundation for informing and educating the public and partners involved. The MNDNR has recently added two positions dedicated to working with landowners, hunters, and recreational resources users on CWD-related information and education. A human dimensions' research scientist was hired to focus specifically on deer, and CWD will be a significant portion of that work. Furthermore, the MNDNR will continue to partner with landowners and hunting groups, such as Bluffland Whitetails Association, the Minnesota Deer Hunters Association, Minnesota Conservation Federation, Backcountry Hunters and Anglers, and The National Deer Association to engage with stakeholders about past, current, and future scientific products that are driving our collective understanding of the management of CWD in wild cervids.

Literature Cited

- Ahmed, M. S., B. J. Hanley, C. I. Mitchell, R. C. Abbott, N. A. Hollingshead, J. G. Booth, J. Guinness, C. S. Jennelle, F. H. Hodel, C. Gonzalez-Crespo, C. R. Middaugh, J. R. Ballard, B. Clemons, C. H. Killmaster, T. M. Harms, J. N. Caudell, K. M. Benavidez Westrich, E. McCallen, C. Casey, L. M. O'Brien, J. K. Trudeau, C. Stewart, M. Carstensen, W. T. McKinley, K. P. Hynes, A. E. Stevens, L. A. Miller, M. Cook, R. T. Meyers, J. Shaw, M. J. Tonkovich, J. D. Kelly, D. M. Grove, D. J. Storm, and K. L. Schuler. 2024. Predicting chronic wasting disease in white-tailed deer at the county scale using machine learning. Scientific Reports 14: 14373. doi: 10.1038/s41598-024-65002-7.
- Arkansas Game and Fish Commission. 2018. CWD in Arkansas. Accessed 10/24/2018. https://www.agfc.com/en/hunting/big-game/deer/cwd/cwd-arkansas/.
- Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies. 2018. AFWA best management practices for surveillance, management, and control of chronic wasting disease. AFWA, Washington, D.C. 111pp.
- Bishop, R. C. 2003. The economic effects of chronic wasting disease (CWD) in Wisconsin. Staff Paper Series. University of Wisconsin-Madison, Department of Agricultural and Applied Economics, Staff Paper No. 43, November 2003.
- Bravo-Risi, F., P. Soto, T. Eckland, R. Dittmar, S. Ramirez, C.S.G. Catumbele, C. Soto, M. Lockwood, T. Nichols, and R. Morales. 2021. Detection of CWD prions in naturally infected white-tailed deer fetuses and gestational tissues by PMCA. Scientific Reports 11: 18385.
- Carstensen, M., E. Hildebrand, and L. Cornicelli. 2015. Health assessment for free-ranging elk in northwest Minnesota, 2004-2014. Pages 172–183 in L. Cornicelli, M. Carstensen, M. Grund, M. Larsen, and J. Lawrence. Summaries of wildlife research findings, 2014. Minnesota Department of Natural Resources, Wildlife Populations and Research Unit, St. Paul, MN.
- Carlson, C. M., S. Thomas, M. W. Keating, P. Soto, N. M. Gibbs, H. Chang, J. K, Wiepz, A. G. Austin, J. R. Schneider, R. Morales, C. J. Johnson, and J. A. Pedersen. 2023. Plants as vectors for environmental prion transmission. iScience 26: 108428.
- Czub, S. 2017. First evidence of intracranial and peroral transmission of chronic wasting disease (CWD) in Cynomolgus macaques: A work in progress. Prion Conference presentation, Edinburgh, Scotland (5/25/2017). https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Vtt1kAVDhDQ
- DeVivo, M. T., D. R. Edmunds, M. J. Kauffman, B. A. Schumaker, J. Binfet, T. J. Kreeger, B. J. Richards, H. M. Schätzl, and T. E. Cornish. 2017. Endemic chronic wasting diseases causes mule deer population decline in Wyoming. PLoS ONE 12(10): e0186512. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0186512</u>.
- Dorak, S. J., M. L. Green, M. M. Wander, M. O. Ruiz, M. G. Buhnerkempe, T. Tian, J. E. Novakofski, and N. E. Mateus-Pinilla. 2017. Clay content and pH: soil characteristic

associations with the persistent presence of chronic wasting disease in northern Illinois. Scientific Reports 7: 18062.

- Duque-Velásquez, C., C. Kim, A. Hebst, N. Daude, M. Carmen-Garza, H. Willie, J. Aiken, and D. McKenzie. 2015. Deer prion proteins modulate the emergence and adaptation of chronic wasting disease strains. Journal of Virology 89:12362-12373.
- Edmunds, D. R., M. J. Kauffman, B. A. Schumaker, F. G. Lindzey, W. E. Cook, T. J. Kreeger,
 R. G. Grogan, and T. E. Cornish. 2016. Chronic wasting disease drives population decline of white-tailed deer. PLoS ONE 11(8): e0161127. <u>doi.org/10.1371</u>
- Edmunds, D. R., S. E. Albeke, R. G. Grogan, F. G. Lindzey, D. E. Legg, W. E. Cook, B. A. Schumaker, T. J. Kreeger, and T. E. Cornish. 2017. Chronic wasting disease influences activity and behavior in white-tailed deer. Journal of Wildlife Management 82(1): 138-154. doi:10.1002/jwmg.21341.
- Erickson, D., C. Reeling, and J. G. Lee. 2019. The effect of chronic wasting disease on resident deer hunting permit demand in Wisconsin. Animals 9: 2096. doi:10.3390/ani9121096
- Gilbertson, M. L. J., E. E. Brandell, M. E. Pinkerton, N. M. Meaux, M. Hunsaker, D. Jarosinski, W. Ellarson, D. P. Walsh, D. J. Storm, and W. C. Turner. 2022. Cause of death, pathology, and chronic wasting disease status of white-tailed deer (Odocoileus virginianus) mortalities in Wisconsin, USA. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 58: 803-815.
- Gilch, S. 2016. Overview of chronic wasting disease. In S.E. Aiello, M.A. Moses and D. G. Allen (Eds.), The Merck veterinary manual, 11th edition. Kenilworth, NJ. Haley, N. J., C. K. Mathiason, S. Carver, M. Zabel, G. C. Telling, and E. A. Hoover. 2011.
- Grear, D. A., M. D. Samuel, K. T. Scribner, B. V. Weckworth, and J. A. Langenberg. 2010. Influence of genetic relatedness and spatial proximity on chronic wasting disease infection among female white-tailed deer: Social transmission of CWD. Journal of Applied Ecology 47:532–540
- Groveman, B. R., K. Williams, B. Race, S. Foliaki, T. Thomas, A. G. Hughson, R. O. Walters, W. Zou, and C. L. Haigh. 2024. Lack of transmission of chronic wasting disease to human cerebral organoids. Emerging Infectious Diseases 30(6): 1193-1202.
- Haley, N. J., C. K. Mathiason, S. Carver, M. Zabel, G. C. Telling, and E. A. Hoover. 2011. Detection of chronic wasting disease prions in salivary, urinary, and intestinal tissues of deer: potential mechanisms of prion shedding and transmission. Journal of Virology 85(13): 6309-6318.
- Haley, N. J., K. Merrett, A. B. Stein, D. Simpson, A. Carlson, G. Mitchell, A. Staskevicius, T. Nichols, A. D. Lehmkuhl, and B. V. Thomsen. 2021. Estimating relative CWD susceptibility and disease progression in farmed white-tailed deer with rare PRNP alleles. PLoS ONE: 14(12): e0224342.
- Hanley, B. J., M. Carstensen, D. P. Walsh, S. A. Christensen, D. J. Storm, J. G. Booth, J. Guiness, C. E. Them, M. Sohel Ahmed, and K. L. Schuler. 2022. Informing surveillance

through the characterization of outbreak potential of chronic wasting disease in white-tailed deer. Ecological Modeling 471: 110054. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2022.110054

- Hannaoui, S., I. Zemlyankina, S. C. Chang, M. I. Arifin, V. Béringue, D. McKenzie, H. M. Schatzl, and S. Gilch. 2022. Transmission of cervid prions to humanized mice demonstrates the zoonotic potential of CWD. Acta Neuropathologica 144: 767-784.
- Hefley, T. J., M. B. Hooten, R. E. Russell, D. P. Walsh, and J. A. Powell. 2017. When mechanism matters: Bayesian forecasting using models of ecological diffusion. Ecology Letters 20: 640-650.
- Henderson, D. M., N. D. Denkers, C. E. Hoover, N. Garbino, C. K. Mathiason, and E. A. Hoover. 2015. Longitudinal detection of prion shedding in saliva and urine by chronic wasting disease-infected deer by real-time quaking-induced conversion. Journal of Virology 89: 9338-9347.
- Hildebrand, E., M. Carstensen, L. Cornicelli, D. C. Pauly, and M. H. Dexter. 2013. Chronic wasting disease management in a Minnesota deer herd: coordinated response to the southeast detection, 2010-2013. Pages 144–154 in L. Cornicelli, M. Carstensen, M. Grund, M. Larsen, and J. Lawrence. Summaries of wildlife research findings, 2013. Minnesota Department of Natural Resources, Wildlife Populations and Research Unit, St. Paul, MN.
- Holsman, R.H., J. Petchenik, and E.E. Cooney. 2010. CWD after "the fire": Six reasons why hunters resisted Wisconsin's eradication effort. Human Dimensions of Wildlife 15:180-193.
- Illinois Department of Natural Resources. 2013. Illinois chronic wasting disease: 2012-2013 surveillance and management report. Accessed 10/24/2018. https://www.dnr.illinois.gov/programs/CWD/Documents/CWDAnnualReport20122013.pdf
- Jennelle, C.S., V. Henaux, G. Wasserberg, B. Thiagarajan, R. E. Rolley, and M. D. Samuel. 2014. Transmission of chronic wasting disease in Wisconsin white-tailed deer: Implications for disease spread and management. PLoS ONE 9(3): e91043. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0091043.
- Jennelle, C.S., D. P. Walsh, M. D. Samuel, E. E. Osnas, R. Rolley, J. Langenberg, J. G. Powers, R. J. Monello, E. D. Demarest, R. Gubler, and D. M. Heisey. 2018. Applying a Bayesian weighted surveillance approach to detect chronic wasting disease in white-tailed deer. Journal of Applied Ecology. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13178</u>.
- Jennelle, C. S., W. D. Walter, J. Crawford, C. S. Rosenberry, and B. D. Wallingford. 2022. Movement of white-tailed deer in contrasting landscapes influences management of chronic wasting disease. Journal of Wildlife Management 86: 1-21.
- Johnson, C. J., J. Johnson, J P. Vanderloo, D. Keane, J. M Aiken, and D. McKenzie. 2006. Prion protein polymorphisms in white-tailed deer influence susceptibility to chronic wasting disease. Journal of General Virology 87:2109-2114.

- Johnson, C. J., J. A. Pederson, R. J. Chappell, D. McKenzie, and J. M. Aiken. 2007. Oral transmissibility of prion disease is enhanced by binding to soil particles. PLoS Pathogens 3(7): e93. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.0030093.
- Johnson, C. J., A. Herbst, C. Duque-Velásquez, J. P. Vanderloo, P. Bochsler, R. Chappell, and D. McKenzie. 2011. Prion protein polymorphisms affect chronic wasting disease progression. PLoS One 6(3): e17450. Doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0017450.
- Kramm, C., R. Gomez-Gutierrez, C. Soto, G. Telling, T. Nichols, and R. Morales. 2019. *In vitro* detection of chronic wasting disease (CWD) prions in semen and reproductive tissues of white-tailed deer bucks (*Odocoileus virginianus*). PLoS ONE 14(12): e0225660.
- Kurt, T. D., L. Jiang, N. Fernandez-Borges, C. Bett, J. Liu, T. Yang, T. R. Spraker, J. Castilla, D. Eisenberg, Q. Kong, and C. J. Sigurdson. 2015. Human prion protein sequence elements impede cross-species chronic wasting disease transmission. Journal of Clinical Investigation 125(4): 1485-1496.
- Kuznetsova, A., C. Cullingham, D. McKenzie, and J. M. Aiken. 2018 Soil humic acids degrade CWD prions and reduce infectivity. PLoS Pathogens, 14(11): e1007414.
- Lichtenberg, A. S., H. Inzalaco, S. Thomas, D. Storm, and D. Walsh. 2023. CWD TSE prion cervid environmental risk factors 2023. Minnesota Center for Prion Research and Outreach, University of Minnesota: *unpublished data*.
- Maluquer de Motes, C., M. J. Cano, M. Pumarola, and R. Girones. 2008. Detection and survival of prion agents in aquatic environments. Water Research 42(10-11):2465-2472.
- Manjerovic, M. B., M. L. Green, N. Mateus-Pinilla, J. Novakofski, 2014. The importance of localized culling in stabilizing chronic wasting disease prevalence in white-tailed deer populations. Preventative Veterinary Medicine 113(1): 139-145.
- Mathiason, C. K., J. G. Powers, S. J. Dahmes, D. A. Osborn, K. V. Miller, R. J. Warren, G. L. Mason, S. A. Hays, J. Hayes-Klug, D. M. Seelig, M. A. Wild, L. L. Wolfe, T. R. Spraker, M. W. Miller, C. J. Sigurdson, G. C. Telling, and E. A. Hoover. 2006. Infectious prion in the saliva and blood of deer with chronic wasting disease. Science 314(5796):133-136.
- MaWhinney, S., W. J. Pape, J. E. Forster, C. A. Anderson, P. Bosque, and M. W. Miller. 2006. Human prion disease and relative risk associated with chronic wasting disease. Emerging Infectious Diseases 12(11):1527-35.
- Miller, M. W., H. M. Swanson, L. L. Wolfe, F. G. Quartarone, S. L Huwer, C. H. Southwick, and P. M. Lukacs. 2008. Lions and prions and deer demise. PLoS One 3(12): e4019, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0004019
- Miller, M. W., and E. S. Williams. 2003. Prion disease: horizontal prion transmission in mule deer. Nature 425(6953):35-36.
- Miller, M. W., E. S. Williams, N. T. Hobbs, and L. L. Wolfe. 2004. Environmental sources of prion transmission in mule deer. Emerging Infectious Diseases 10(6):1003-1006. Minnesota

Department of Natural Resources. 2011. Chronic wasting disease response plan. Wildlife Populations and Research Unit, St. Paul, MN. 16p.

- Minnesota Department of Natural Resources. 2024. License sales data. Accessed July 2014. https://www.dnr.state.mn.us/licenses/license-sales-data.html
- Moazami-Goiudarzi, K., O. Andréoletti, J. L. Vilotte, and V. Béringue. 2021. Review on PRNP genetics and susceptibility to chronic wasting disease of Cervidae. Veterinary Research 52:128.
- Monello, R. J., N. L Galloway, J. G. Powers, S. A. Madsen-Bouterse, W. H. Edwards, M. E. Wood, K. I. O'Rourke, and M. A. Wild. 2017. Pathogen-mediated selection in free-ranging elk populations infected by chronic wasting disease. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 114:12208-12212.
- Nalls, A. V., E. McNulty, J. Powers, D. M. Seelig, C. Hoover, N. J. Haley, J. Hayes-Klug, K. Anderson, P. Stewart, W. Goldmann, E. A. Hoover, and C. K. Mathiason. 2013. Mother to offspring transmission of chronic wasting disease in Reeves' Muntjac deer. PLoS ONE 8(8): e71844. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0071844</u>.
- Nalls, A. V., E. E. McNulty, A. Mayfield, J. M. Crum, M. K. Keel, E. A. Hoover, M. G. Ruder, and C. K. Mathiason. 2021. Detection of chronic wasting disease prions in fetal tissues of free-ranging white-tailed deer. Viruses 13: 2430.
- Needham, M. D., J. J. Vaske, and M. J. Manfredo. 2004. Hunters' behavior and acceptance of management actions related to chronic wasting disease in eight states. Human Dimensions of Wildlife 9:211–231.
- Norbert, B. R., E. H. Merrill, M. J. Pybus, T. K. Bollinger, and Y. T. Hwang. 2016. Landscape connectivity predicts chronic wasting disease risk in Canada. Journal of Applied Ecology 53: 1450-1459.
- Organ, J. F., S. P. Mahoney, and V. Geist. 2010. "Born in the Hands of Hunters." *The Wildlife Professional*: 4:22-27.
- Otero. A., C. D. Velasquez, D. McKenzie, and J. Aiken. 2023. Emergence of CWD strains. Cell Tissue Research 392(1): 135-148.
- Plummer, I. H., C. J. Johnson, A. R. Chesney, J. A. Pedersen, and M. D. Samuel. 2018. Mineral licks as environmental reservoirs of chronic wasting disease. PLoS ONE: 1096745. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0196745
- Pritzkow, S., R. Morales, A. Lyon, L. Concha-Marambio, A. Urayama, and C. Soto. 2018. Efficient prion disease transmission through common environmental materials. Journal of Biological Chemistry 293: 3363-3373.
- Pritzkow, S., R. Morales, F. Moda, U. Khan, G.C. Telling, E. Hoover, and C. Soto. 2015. Grass plants bind, retain, uptake, and transport infectious prions. Cell Reports 11: 1168-1175.

- Pulford, B., T. R. Spraker, A. C. Wykoff, C. Meyerett, H. Bender, A. Ferguson, B. Wyatt, K. Lockwood, J. Powers, G.C. Telling, M. A. Wild, and M. B. Zabel. 2012. Detection of PrP^{CWD} in feces from naturally exposed Rocky Mountain elk (Cervus elaphus nelson) using protein misfolding cyclic amplification. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 48(2): 425-434.
- Race, B., K. Williams, C. D. Orru, A. G. Hughson, L. Lubke, and B. Chesebro. 2018. Lack of transmission of chronic wasting disease to cynomolgus macaques. Journal of Virology DOI: 10.1128/JVI.00550-18.
- Robinson, S. J., M. D. Samuel, C. J. Johnson, M. Adams, and D. I. McKenzie. 2012. Emerging prion disease drives host selection in a wildlife population. Ecological Applications 22(3): 1050-1059.
- Safar, J. G., P. Lessard, G. Tamguney, and Y. Freyman. 2008. Transmission and detection of prions in feces. Journal of Infectious Diseases 198:81-89.
- Samuel, M. D., and D. J. Storm. 2016. Chronic wasting disease in white-tailed deer: Infection, mortality, and implications for heterogeneous transmission. Ecology 97(11):3195-3205.
- Sandberg, M. K., H. Al-Doujaily, C. J. Sigurdson, M Glatzel, C. O'Malley, C. Powell, E. A. Asante, J. M. Linehan, S. Brandner, J. D. F. Wadsworth, and J. Collinge. 2010. Chronic wasting disease prions are not transmissible to transgenic mice overexpressing human prion protein. Journal of General Virology 91(10): 2651-2657.
- Saunders, S. E., J. C. Bartz, and S. L. Bartlett-Hunt. 2012. Soil-mediated prion transmission: Is local soil type a key determinant of prion disease incidence? Chemosphere 87:661-667.
- Schwabenlander, M. D., M. R. Culhane, S. M. Hall, S. M. Goyal, P. L. Anderson, M. Carstensen, S. J. Wells, W. B. Slade, and A. G. Armien. 2013. A case of chronic wasting disease in a captive red deer (*Cervus elaphus*). Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation 25: 573– 575.
- Tamgüney, G., M. W. Miller, L. L. Wolfe, T. M. Sirochman, D. V. Glidden, C. Palmer, A. Lemus, J. DeArmond, and S. B. Prusiner. 2009. Asymptomatic deer excrete infectious prions in faeces. Nature 461: 529-532.
- Thompson, N. E., and J. R. Mason. 2022. The cost of combatting chronic wasting disease. The Wildlife Professional 15: 46-49.
- Tosa, M. I., E. M. Schauber, and C. K. Nielsen. 2016. Localized removal affects white-tailed deer space use and contacts. Journal of Wildlife Management 81(1): 26-37.
- Varga, C., P. McDonald, W. M. Brown, P. Shelton, A. L. Roca, J. E. Novakofski, and N. E. Mateus-Pinilla. 2021. Evaluating the ability of a locally focused culling program in removing chronic wasting disease infected free-ranging white-tailed deer in Illinois, USA, 2003–2020. Transboundary and Emerging Diseases 69: 2867-2878.

- Vaske, J. J., N. R. Timmons, J. Beaman, and J. Petchenik. 2004. Chronic wasting disease in Wisconsin: Hunter behavior, perceived risk, and agency trust. Human Dimensions of Wildlife 9:193–209.
- Vaske, J. J. and K. M. Lyon. 2011. CWD prevalence, perceived human health risks, and state influences on deer hunting participation. Risk Analysis 31:488–496.
- Waddell, L., J. Greig, M. Mascarenhas, A. Otten, T. Corrin, and K. Hierlihy. 2018. Current evidence on the transmissibility of chronic wasting disease prions to humans–A systematic review. Transboundary and Emerging Diseases 65:37-49.
- Walsh, D.P., and M.W. Miller. 2010. A weighted surveillance approach for detecting chronic wasting disease foci. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 46:118-135.
- Western Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies. 2017. Recommendations for Adaptive Management of Chronic Wasting Disease in the West. WAFWA Wildlife Health Committee and Mule Deer Working Group. Edmonton, Canada and Fort Collins, USA.
- Williams, E.S., and M.W. Miller. 2002. Chronic wasting disease in deer and elk in North America. Revue Scientifique et Technique 21: 305-316.
- Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources. 2018. Field Notes: Southwest Wisconsin CWD, Deer & Predator Study Newsletter Issue 4. <u>https://dnr.wi.gov/topic/research/articles/february2018.html#articleOne</u>

Appendix A. Glossary of Terms

Adaptive Management: A systematic approach for improving resource management activities and policies by learning from alternative management approaches. The idea of learning from experience and modifying subsequent behavior in light of that experience.

Agency-directed culling: Removal of cervids from a focused area carried out by trained professionals. On private property, this activity is not undertaken without the clear consent and the signing of a contract between the private landowner and contractor (e.g., United States Department of Agriculture-Wildlife Services).

Apparent CWD prevalence: The proportion of confirmed CWD-positive cervids from a total sample of cervids tested in a specific area and time frame.

Clinical CWD suspect: A cervid that exhibits physical signs, behavioral abnormalities, and/or locomotor difficulties consistent with CWD infection. Although clinical signs of CWD infection are non-specific, they may include a loss of body condition and weight, excessive salivation, loss of fear of humans, loss of body control, tremors or staggering, drooping head or ears, and apparent confusion.

Confirmed CWD-positive: A cervid that has tested positive for both the first-round screening test for CWD infection (enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay - ELISA) and the confirmatory test for CWD infection (Immunohistochemistry - IHC), which is a gold standard test certified by the USDA.

CWD Core Area: A defined area where multiple CWD-positive cervids have been detected in close geographic proximity. They are designated by a 1-mile buffer of surrounding sections (1 mi²) where CWD-positive deer have been detected. These areas represent the known highest risk for CWD transmission between wild deer and through contamination of the environment with infectious prions, and will take priority for intensive management actions to mitigate disease spread.

CWD-Management Zone: A defined area no less than 15 miles around a CWD-positive detection, the size of which will depend on the locations and distribution of infected cervids as well as the density, distribution, and understanding of seasonal movements of the local cervid population. This Zone will be the basis for CWD management efforts which will include carcass movement restrictions, deer density reduction, agency-directed culling, special hunts, landowner permits, etc.

Deer Permit Area: A spatial unit that is defined by special deer harvest regulations that are determined by previous harvest rates, estimated population density, and stake-holder inputs.

ELISA: Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent Assay, which is a specialized initial screening test for CWD infection in a cervid. This assay uses an antibody, and the intensity of the antibody binding is read by an instrument that assigns a numerical value to the amount of binding. Intensity values over a predetermined threshold indicate the presence of CWD prions.

Endemic CWD Infection: This term means that CWD is established in the affected population and is maintained without external inputs. The disease prevalence and spatial extent of infection is consistent and has the potential to increase in the affected area. Transmission between deer is efficient and constantly occurring, and more young deer (yearlings and fawns) are found infected through sampling efforts annually. Once CWD is endemic, existing efforts may not be sufficient to eliminate CWD from the area.

IHC: Immunohistochemistry, which is a specialized confirmatory test for CWD infection in a cervid. It involves the staining of infectious prions in a very thinly sliced tissue sample (either medial retropharyngeal lymph nodes or obex) and magnification via a microscope.

Initial CWD detection: An initiating event when CWD is detected in a wild cervid for the first time in an area. Detection will likely occur through our risk-based surveillance, meaning the animal was sampled through a planned hunter-harvested surveillance effort or through on-going testing of clinical suspects statewide.

Persistent CWD Infection: A CWD management phase that means CWD continues to exist in the wild, despite actions that may/may not have occurred to eliminate the disease through the initial response phase. The disease remains on the landscape but has not yet been determined to be endemic.

Appendix B. Conceptual representation of CWD Management Zone, and a CWD Core Area. A Core Area within the CWD Management Zone is defined as a section (1 mi²) within which at least one wild cervid has been confirmed positive with CWD. Note that there may be multiple CWD Core Areas within a CWD Management Zone.



Appendix C. Stages of CWD Response and Key Management Actions.

